## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Florida Gas Transmission
Company,

Appellant,

v.

Florida Public Service
Commission, et al.,

Appellees.

CASE NO. 82,171
PSC Docket No.: 920807-GP

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE FLORIDA PUBLC SERVICE COMMISSION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT FLORIDA GAS TRANSMISSION COMPANY

William L. Hyde Fla. Bar No. 265500

EARL, BLANK, KAVANAUGH & STOTTS, P.A. Attorneys for Florida Gas Transmission Company 215 S. Monroe Street Suite 350 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 681-1900

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Introduction

This proceeding was commenced below when SunShine Pipeline Partners ("SunShine") filed an application for a determination of need for its proposed intrastate natural gas pipeline with the Florida Public Service Commission ("PSC") pursuant to section 403.9422(1)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992). [R:10-19] Florida Gas Transmission Company ("FGT"), the owner of Florida's existing statewide natural gas pipeline, [R:1-8] as well as numerous other parties intervened, [R:9] and after an expedited discovery process a final administrative hearing was held before the PSC on May 10-11, 1993. At that final hearing the following facts were adduced.

SunShine is a Florida General Partnership between Coastal Southern Pipeline Company, Power Energy Services Corporation ("PESCORP"), a special purpose and wholly owned subsidiary of Florida Power Corporation ("FPC"), and TCPL SunShine Limited ("TCPL"), a subsidiary of TransCanada Pipelines, Limited [EX:22; TR:36] It was formed for the purpose of constructing, owning and operating an intrastate natural gas pipeline system to serve the State of Florida.\\1 [Id. at p. 1]

In the companion SunShine Interstate Transmission Company proceeding pending before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") in Docket No. CP93-361, FGT protested the attempt of SunShine's beneficial owners to bifurcate the comprehensive interstate transmission system into interstate/intrastate pieces, thereby avoiding FERC jurisdiction over much of its system, and creating a detrimentally unequal and biased playing field. Any references in this brief to the SunShine Pipeline as an "intrastate" pipeline are not to be construed as an admission that the SunShine Pipeline is a bona fide intrastate pipeline.

SunShine proposes to construct in Florida an intrastate natural gas pipeline ("the SunShine Pipeline"), which, if approved, would commence at a point in Okaloosa County and extend east and south in order to serve anticipated markets in peninsular and central Florida. [TR:42]

The initial facilities for the proposed SunShine Pipeline for 1995 would consist of approximately 502 miles of 30-inch mainline pipe and numerous lateral and branch lines. In the years 1998 and 1999, SunShine would add an additional 113 miles of new lateral pipelines as well as five compressor stations with approximately 45,000 installed horsepower. [TR:41]

Seven laterals to the main pipeline were proposed: (1) Ocala lateral, a 5-mile 4-inch diameter pipeline in Marion County; (2) the Leesburg lateral; (3) the Anclote lateral; (4) the Florida Crushed Stone lateral; (5) the Dade City lateral; (6) the North Tampa lateral; and (7) the Auburndale lateral. [TR:149] There is no testimony or record evidence, however, that the Ocala, Florida Crushed Stone, Dade City, or North Tampa lateral serve any customers with executed precedent agreements.

Initial system capacity for the SunShine Pipeline will be 250,000 million cubic feet ("Mcf") per day. Two 10,000-horsepower compressor stations would be added in 1998, increasing capacity to 425,000 Mcf per day. In 1999, three more compressors having 25,000 horsepower would be placed in service, bringing total system capacity to 550,000 Mcf per day. [TR:42]

The SunShine Pipeline must be connected to a new interstate pipeline to be constructed simultaneously by SunShine Interstate Pipeline Partners ("SITCO"), which is beneficially owned by the same interests as SunShine. The SITCO Pipeline would extend from an interconnection with Chandeleur Pipeline Company at an undetermined point in Pascagoula, Mississippi, and terminating at the point of interconnection with the SunShine Pipeline in Okaloosa County, Florida. [TR:41-42] All natural gas volumes reaching the SunShine Pipeline must be transported solely through the SITCO Pipeline; the SunShine Pipeline will have no interconnects with any other pipelines other than SITCO. [TR:43]

The partners in SunShine intend to use project-based financing, which means that the contracts and precedent agreements will secure the loans for the seventy-five percent (75%) debt of the partnership, and there will not be recourse financing by any of the principals to the partnership. No specific presentations, however, have been made to any lending institutions concerning the feasibility of financing this pipeline project. [TR:66-67, 77]

# Traditional Approach versus Market-based Approach

While neither the Natural Gas Pipeline Siting Act, §§ 403.9401-.9425, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992) ("Siting Act"), nor the PSC's rules and regulations or prior orders speak precisely to the issue, the undisputed testimony of FGT's primary expert witness, Dr. Paul Carpenter, established that there are essentially two alternatives available for determining whether the proposed SunShine Pipeline project is needed: (1) the "traditional"

approach" which determines need on the basis of an explicit costbenefit and cost-effective analysis of the proposed project; and (2) the "market-based" or "let-the-market-decide" approach, in which need is evaluated based on the willingness of third-party customers and shippers to commit contractually to the project and on the requirement that the project's economic and financial risks will be borne by the project sponsors and not by other customers or ratepayers. [TR:512-13]

The traditional approach, as explained by the unrebutted testimony of Dr. Paul Carpenter, requires that a regulatory commission such as the PSC make an affirmative finding that the project is likely to provide net benefits to consumers and that it is economically superior to other alternatives, including the alternative of delaying the project. To the extent that alternative projects are mutually exclusive, this approach may require the regulatory commission to choose between competing projects. [TR:513]

Two types of analysis are required for this approach: A cost-benefit and a cost-effectiveness analysis. Through a cost-benefit analysis the applicant would be required to demonstrate whether the benefits to gas consumers and electric ratepayers outweigh the costs of the project. The cost-effectiveness analysis would evaluate whether the proposed project was the alternative producing those benefits at the least cost. [TR:513]

The benefits of a new gas pipeline typically involve economic as well as environmental considerations. Economic benefits which

might be considered include the fulfilling of a new or unmet demand for gas or gas transportation services, reduced delivered gas prices, increased service reliability, and the like. [TR:513-14] Project costs, on the other hand, would include capital and operating costs and the cost of any environmental mitigation necessary in the project's construction or operation. [TR:514]

The market-based or "let-the-market-decide" approach, again according to the unrebutted testimony of Dr. Carpenter, relies on competition between alternative projects to determine which project(s) will be constructed, but the regulatory commission must still insure that the competition is effective and that there are no explicit or implicit cross-subsidies that would unfairly advantage any one competitor or distort customers' comparisons of the alternatives. [TR:513]

Dr. Carpenter explained that the market-based approach, however, is not a "hands-off" approach. Because it relies on competition to insure that the amount and timing of new capacity additions are optimally developed, the regulatory commission must insure that the competition will be unbiased and effective. [TR:515-16] Dr. Carpenter also warned the PSC that scrutiny is also required of any situation which might unfairly skew the results of the competition to one particular project, such as a cross-subsidy from ratepayers of a particular competitor due to the shifting of costs or risks away from the project and toward ratepayers. [TR:516]

Under the market-based approach, therefore, need is demonstrated by the willingness of new shippers to commit to the project at the project's incremental rates and by the assurance that the project is not involuntarily subsidized by ratepayers.

[TR:516] This showing should include the filing of signed long-term contracts or precedent agreements in which shippers have committed to paying demand or reservation charges for a significant percentage of the capacity of the pipeline over its lifetime. [Id.]

# Inadequacy of SunShine's Forecasts of Future Need for Pipeline.

SunShine's attempt to forecast need for its proposed pipeline was predicated primarily on the testimony of its economic forecaster, Judah Rose. Mr. Rose's testimony, which was based upon a proprietary model owned by his employer, initially purported to establish that in the Year 2,000 there will be a demand for approximately 3.4 billion cubic feet ("Bcf") per day by Florida's electric utilities, with an additional .4 Bcf per day of demand by other non-electric uses (e.g., residential uses). Given this projection, Mr. Rose noted that FGT's system will have capacity (once its third phase is built) of 1.5 Bcf per day. The difference between his 3.8 Bcf of projected natural gas demand and 1.5 Bcf of FGT's existing and proposed capacity reflects his original projected unmet demand or need (2.3 Bcf) for additional natural gas pipeline capacity in Florida. [TR:307, 885]

However, Mr. Rose originally did not look at the actual generating capacity plans for Florida's electric utilities. Because he ignored these plans, he overestimated the demand for the

SunShine Pipeline. Had he used the Florida utilities' own plans, he would have projected, by his own admission, only 1.96 Bcf per day of demand by Florida's utilities in the Year 2,000, not 3.4 Bcf. [TR:528-29, 885; EX:21]

FGT argued that looking to the Year 2,000 and beyond as justifying a need for a pipeline which would commence operations in 1995 is simply not informative. Mr. Rose candidly admitted that he did not attempt to ascertain whether there would be any projected demand for the SunShine Pipeline in 1995, when its first phase would actually come on line. [TR:532, 898]

At the hearing Mr. Rose conceded that he didn't develop or even run the model upon which his forecast is based. The computer work was done by others, apparently under his supervision, but without any explanation or testimony as to whether the model was correctly run or what it is based on. [TR:376]

More importantly, Mr. Rose's analysis was macroeconomic in nature and not tied to the specifics of the SunShine Pipeline proposal. Indeed, by his own admission, his analysis could be applied to any pipeline proposal or even to FGT's future expansions of its existing pipeline. [TR:374]

In his rebuttal testimony, Mr. Rose attempted to tie his demand forecast to the specifics of the SunShine Pipeline proposal, but his accessibility analysis [TR:829-42] was predicated, by his own admission, on a hearsay memorandum from SunShine's President, E. G. Burgin. Mr. Rose admittedly failed to evaluate the relative costs of SunShine's and FGT's servicing the gross or aggregate

demand that he is projecting or whether SunShine will be better able than FGT to serve this gross or aggregate demand. [TR:861-863]

Lack of Market Commitment for the SunShine Pipeline.

SunShine essentially asserted that based upon executed precedent agreements and letters of intent that SunShine has obtained from prospective shipper customers, as well as Judah Rose's forecast for future natural gas demand in the electrical power generation industry, SunShine has adequately supported the transmission capacity that it seeks to certify.

As of the date of the final hearing, the SunShine Pipeline had obtained executed precedent agreements for 177,000 Mcf of its initial in-service capacity of 250,000 Mcf for 1995 and 292,000 Mcf for its build-out capacity of 550,000 Mcf in 1999. These figures, respectively, amount to approximately seventy-one percent (71%) of the initial in-service capacity in 1995 and fifty-three percent (53%) of the build-out capacity of the SunShine Pipeline in 1999. [TR:42,77]

But Dr. Carpenter stated in unrebutted testimony that because the project's rates are based upon capturing the economies of scale associated with the expanded 1999 configuration (550,000 Mcf per day), once construction is started and if only 250,000 Mcf per day of demand materializes by 1999, there is no economic option available to the sponsors to downsize the project to match the demand and avoid losing massive amounts of money. [TR:549]

Thus, Dr. Carpenter testified without rebuttal, if the project attracts only the volumes contemplated as necessary to support this smaller project envisioned in SunShine's financial pro formas (400,000 Mcf per day) at the 52.5 cent rate, the 1995 present value of the pre-tax revenue shortfall from such an outcome will be approximately \$200 Million, a sum greater than the total equity to be invested in the project. [TR:553; EX:18, PRC-11]

The letters of intent on their face reflect no genuine commitment by the proposed shipper; they are only an indication of some generalized interest in obtaining some degree of capacity on the proposed pipeline. [TR:534, 923] The Cypress Energy letter of intent, for example, has expired by its own terms. More importantly, it is for a non-existent power plant near Lake Okeechobee, the need for which has expressly been denied by the PSC. Still, approximately \$75 to \$85 Million of the pipeline's total projected costs are devoted to an extension to service this disapproved and non-existent facility. [TR:80-82, 211, 215; EX:1, EJB-8]

The demand associated with the FPC conversion of its Anclote powerplant to gas, which is the linchpin of this pipeline proposal, is itself questionable. As FPC's own task force concluded, the net economic benefit of the Anclote conversion is very sensitive to natural gas prices, it assumes that FPC's Crystal River powerplant units are not converted, and the stream of benefits does not become positive for FPC and hence to its ratepayers until the Year 2000. [EX:18, PRC-7, pp. II-2 to II-14, TR:556-57, 743-44]

The proposed timing of the Anclote conversion was also questioned by the financial analysts of FPC's parent corporation, Florida Progress Corporation. They concluded that the proposed timing of the Anclote conversion cannot be supported on economic grounds and that there should be a reevaluation of the proper timing of the conversion of Anclote to gas. [TR:557-59; EX:18, PRC-7, pp. V-2 to V-4]

The Florida Progress analysts further described how FPC's conflict of interest in being both an owner and a shipper on the pipeline is compromising its capacity planning decisions with regard to the Anclote plant conversion. As those financial analysts noted: "The very urgency to proceed thus discussed in Section III of this report speaks primarily to the needs of the new pipeline, rather than to the appropriate timing to meet FPC's needs." [TR:557-59, 591-92, 764; EX:18, PRC-7, pp. VI-25 to VI-26]

## SunShine's Reliability as a Supplier of Natural Gas.

The operating company for the SunShine Pipeline has not yet been incorporated and possesses no assets. It has no offices either. Indeed, all that it appears to have at this time is a President and a Vice President. [TR:30, 68, 913]

SunShine will be an intrastate pipeline that will move one hundred percent (100%) of its gas through SITCO. Without SITCO, however, SunShine connects to nothing, and the federal authorization for SITCO could take, by the admission of SunShine's President, E. J. Burgin, years, and the application had not yet even been filed. [TR:36, 43, 68; EX:1, p. 33-34]

As to whether SITCO itself would have access to adequate supplies of divertible natural gas, SunShine's only witness in this regard, Ronald Hrehor, admitted that he did not specifically examine the capacity of the pipelines upstream of SITCO or their supply areas. He did not even know the rates of the upstream pipelines to which the SITCO pipeline would interconnect. [TR:278, 279-80]

### Adoption of Final Order

Subsequent to the final hearing FGT submitted in accordance with section 120.57(1)(b)4., Florida Statutes, its Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law/Argument. [A:2; R:1571-1623]

Despite the above-noted and other facts of record, the PSC at the Commissioners' agenda conference on June 11, 1993, voted to approve SunShine's application subject to several conditions which are not germane to this appeal. The Commissioners also ruled on the various parties', including FGT's, proposed findings of fact. In doing so, however, the Commissioners did not themselves rule on each and every proposed finding; instead, they adopted without comment, explanation or variation the PSC staff's recommended rulings on these proposed findings of fact. [TR to Special Agenda Conf., pp. 1-61]

The PSC's approval was eventually reduced to writing by Final Order rendered July 2, 1993. [A:1; R:1628-1704] FGT timely filed its Notice of Appeal on August 2, 1993. [R:1705-1707]

#### INTRODUCTION TO ARGUMENT

FGT asks of this Court two central questions: whether a statute's lack of guidelines makes it unconstitutional under Florida's non-delegation doctrine, and in the alternative, whether an agency may refuse to flesh out such a statute in a final order by refusing to elucidate, discuss, or explain its public policy choices. At issue is a Final Order of the PSC certifying a need for SunShine's proposed natural gas pipeline pursuant to section 403.9422(1)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992).

Perhaps this Court will be relieved to know that the salient facts of this case—an appeal from a Final Order of the PSC—are actually quite straightforward and do not require any familiarity or expertise in economics or the arcane science and art of public utilities regulation. The narrow constitutional and administrative law questions posed by this case do not require any lengthy exposition of natural gas pipeline design, construction, or regulation.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

#### ISSUE I:

Section 403.9422(1)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) impermissibly delegates to the PSC the authority to determine what the law shall be in violation of article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution (1968). It provides no definitions, much less standards or priorities, to limit or guide the agency's reach in a Siting Act determination of need hearing. Quite the contrary, it allows the PSC in such a proceeding to consider all "other matters

within its jurisdiction deemed relevant to the determination of need." As such, the Florida Legislature has invested the PSC with the power to determine, in the first instance, what the law shall be.

Furthermore, there is a complete "absence of legislative delineation of priorities" among the factors that are listed in the statute for the PSC to consider, for the statute "treats alike, as fungible goods, disparate categories" such as "reliability," "safety," "integrity," "economics," and the like. Askew v. Cross Key Waterways, 372 So. 2d 913, 919 (Fla. 1978). The statute does not reference or require consistency with another statutory scheme. Compare Department of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 1976).

It is, moreover, not impracticable to lay down a definite comprehensive rule, for this regulation does not turn on the question of personal fitness nor is it a police regulation necessary to protect the general welfare, morals, and safety of the public. See, e.g., North Broward Hospital Dist. v. Mizell, 148 So. 2d 1, 4 n. 11 (Fla. 1962). Hence, this is not a case where the courts will simply infer that a standard of reasonableness is to be applied.

#### **ISSUE II:**

Assuming, however, that our constitution would tolerate such open-ended delegations of authority by statute, then this Court must at least require the PSC to flesh out the details of its

policy choices in its Final Order. The PSC's Final Order falls far short of this requirement.

Because the PSC has decided to use adjudication instead of rulemaking to implement section 403.9422(1)(b), it must fully explain its reasoning in its Final Order. McDonald v. Department of Banking & Finance, 346 So. 2d 569, 583 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). As this Court once reminded the PSC, "when an agency elects to adopt incipient policy in a nonrule proceeding, there must be an adequate support for its decision in the record of the proceeding." Florida Cities Water Co. v. Public Service Comm'n, 384 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1980).

There are numerous instances where the PSC has failed to adequately address the concerns raised by FGT. They naturally group into four categories: (1) those rulings that summarily reject undisputed facts and proposed findings; (2) those rulings that inexplicably refuse to discuss FGT's proposals on the grounds that they raise questions of policy; (3) those rulings that arbitrarily refuse to consider "argumentative" proposed findings; and (4) those portions of the order that attempt to offer a policy discussion, but require further explication.

Three provisions of the APA require the PSC to address all of FGT's concerns. First, sections 120.59 and 120.57 require that all agency orders explicate policy. Second, section 120.68 requires that the "record on appeal" include the agency's statement of reasoning so that a reviewing court can test the sufficiency of the findings. Finally section 120.68 also guarantees parties a full,

fair and meaningful review--a right that would be denied to FGT if no or inadequate reasons are given for the agency action.

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