IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA GAS TRANSMISSION COMPANY,))
Appellant,))
vs.	CASE NO. 82,171
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, et al.,))
Appellees.))

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

DAVID E. SMITH Director of Appeals Florida Bar No. 309011

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7464

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In construing the constitutionality of Section 403.9422(1)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), the Court should be guided by the maxim that a statute should be construed in a way that ascertains its meaning and give effect to the intent of the Legislature enacting it. All doubts as to the constitutionality of the law should be resolved in its favor. The Natural Gas Transmission Pipeline Siting Act, of which Section 403.9422(1)(b) is a part, was enacted as a companion statute to the Natural Gas Transmission Pipeline Intrastate Regulatory Act, Sections 368.101-386.112, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992). These statutes provide a comprehensive grant of authority to the Commission to determine need for new gas transmission facilities and to regulate rates and service. The grant of authority contained in Section 403.9422 is parallel to the authority granted the Commission under the Florida Electric Power Plant Siting Act and the Transmission Line Siting Act in Sections 403.519 403.537, and Florida respectively.

Any constitutional questions arising as to the delegation of authority in Section 403.9422(1)(b) do not involve the separation of powers doctrine. The Commission is a branch of the Legislature and the only valid question presented in this appeal is one of proper delegation of authority to an administrative agency.

Since its inception in 1887, the Commission has been recognized as the proper body to execute the legislative power over the rates, service and facilities of public utilities. Complex and

fluid conditions attendant to utility rate-setting and regulation require delegation of such functions to the Commission. It is not a violation of the delegation doctrine to grant discretionary authority to the Commission to carry out the general scheme of regulation enacted by the Legislature.

Section 403.9422(1)(b) articulates legislative policy and sets out clear and unambiguous criteria to be followed in making a determination of need for a gas pipeline. There is nothing inherently ambiguous about the legislative directive to consider the need for "natural gas delivery reliability, safety and integrity; the need for abundant, clean-burning natural gas to assure the economic well-being of the public; and the appropriate commencement and terminus of the line".

The discretionary provision of Section 403.9422(1)(b) that allows the Commission to consider "other matters within its jurisdiction deemed relevant to the determination of need" is not a grant of unbridled discretion to the Commission. The provisions of the statute taken together direct the Commission to make broad inquiries into the need for additional natural gas transmission facilities in Florida. That is exactly what the Commission did in the SunShine need determination. The remedy of judicial review in this Court is available to any party who believes the Commission has violated its mandate under Section 403.9422(1)(b). There is no claim in this appeal that the Commission has abused its discretion in considering matters irrelevant to a determination of need or outside of its jurisdiction.

Florida courts have specifically upheld the Commission's discretionary exercise of delegated authority. The Commission's determination of need in the instant case is consistent with judicial precedent.

The Commission's order is neither deficient in form nor content. The order meets the test for sufficiency articulated in this Court's decisions and the decisions of other Florida courts. The order systemically addresses each of the statutory criteria of Section 403.9422(1)(b) and presents detailed discussions of the evidence taken on each of the issues raised in the proceeding. The Commission ruled on each of FGT's 94 proposed findings of fact consistent with the Florida Administrative Procedure Act and interpretative case law.

FGT's detailed presentation of its evidence and criticism of the Commission's findings is simply a round-a-bout way of attempting to have this Court reweigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for the Commission's. That would be an improper role for the Court. FGT's arguments should be rejected, and the Commission's order affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 403.9422(1)(b) FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992) IS NOT AN UNLAWFUL DELEGATION OF LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY AND DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE OF ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION (1968).

It is a cardinal rule of statutory interpretation that a statute should be construed in a manner which will ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature enacting the statute.

Deltona Corp. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 220 So.2d 905, 907 (Fla. 1969). Determination of the constitutionality of a statute is a "most grave and important power". In the Interest of A.A. v. State, 605 So.2d 106, (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). The Court should not exercise its power over the constitutionality of a statute lightly or rashly, and all doubts as to the validity of the law should be resolved in favor of its constitutionality. Id.

FGT would have this Court blithely ignore these basic tenets of statutory interpretation and invalidate a key provision of the Natural Gas Transmission Pipeline Siting Act. There is no basis for such a drastic action either on the face of the statute or in the law of delegation.

A. THE NATURAL GAS TRANSMISSION PIPELINE SITING ACT AND NATURAL GAS TRANSMISSION PIPELINE INTRASTATE REGULATORY ACT ADOPTED IN CHAPTER 92-284, LAWS OF FLORIDA, PROVIDE A COMPREHENSIVE GRANT OF REGULATORY AUTHORITY TO THE COMMISSION.

The regulation of intrastate natural gas pipelines approved by the Legislature in 1992 involves much more than the narrow certification provision focused on by FGT. The Commission is recognized as the sole forum for determination of need under the Siting Act in Section 403.9422, and it is also given comprehensive

rate regulation under the provisions of the Act embodied in Section 368.101-386.112, Florida Statutes, (Supp. 1992). Section 368.102-Legislative Declaration, states:

The Legislature has determined that regulation of natural gas intrastate transportation and sale is in the public interest and ss. 368.101-368.112 shall be deemed to be an exercise of the police power of the state for the protection of the public welfare. The Legislature intends that the provisions of Chapter 120 apply to ss. 368.101-368.112 and to proceedings pursuant to those sections except as otherwise expressly exempted.

Clearly, the Commission's role in need determinations is linked to its overall regulatory authority. Section 403.9422 is simply another aspect of the broad powers granted the Commission under the Natural Gas Transmission Pipeline Intrastate Regulatory Act.

The Legislature's 1992 enactment has given the Commission a broad range of discretion to carry out the general purposes of the Regulatory Act and the Siting Act. Moreover, it should be noted that the authority for determination of need for natural gas transmission lines is parallel to that authorized for the Commission in the siting of electric power plants and electric transmission lines in Sections 403.519 and 403.537, Florida Statutes. In fact, the language of the applicable Transmission Line Siting Act provision is almost exactly parallel to that contained in the natural gas pipeline certification provision. Section 403.537(1)(b) states:

In the determination of need, the Commission shall take in account the need for electric system reliability and integrity, the need for

abundant low cost electrical energy to ensure the economic well-being of the citizens of this state, the appropriate starting and ending point of the line, and other matters within its jurisdiction deemed relevant to the determination of need.

Section 403.9422(1)(b), under attack by FGT in this appeal, states

In the determination of need, the commission shall take into account the need for natural gas delivery reliability, safety, and integrity; the need for abundant, clean-burning natural gas to assure the economic well-being of the public; the appropriate commencement and terminus of the line; and other matters within its jurisdiction deemed relevant to the determination of need.

The grant of authority contained in Section 403.9422(1)(b) is thus not without precedent in Florida law. It is clear that this legislative enactment for the regulation of intrastate natural gas pipelines is consistent, almost to the letter as to 403.537 and 403.9422, with a long-standing provisions of the Power Plant Siting Act and the Transmission Line Siting Act. There is no reason to believe, as FGT suggests at page 19 of its Brief, that the grant of authority in the statute will send the Commission on a regulatory binge or that the Commission will now be "beyond the law to control".

B. THE DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY IN 403.9422 IS CONSISTENT WITH FLORIDA CASE LAW.

Somewhat curiously, FGT claims that Section 403.9422(1)(b) violates a separation of power doctrine. Apparently, FGT did not pause to consider that the Commission is an arm of the Legislature.

Chiles v. Public Service Commission Nominating Council, 573 So.2d

829 (Fla. 1991). Appellant's invocation of the Court's admonition to the Legislature against delegating power to another branch of government in Chiles v. Children A, B, C, D, E and F, 589 So.2d 260, 264 (Fla. 1991), is thus clearly off base. The question for this Court in this appeal is one of delegation of authority to an administrative agency, not a separation of powers question. The issue for this Court to decide is whether the Legislature, in view of the Commission's unique role in regulating utilities, has enacted a law which is sufficient to meet the various tests formulated by Florida courts to judge unlawful delegation of legislative authority. A review of extensive case law in the subject, specifically those cases involving the Commission, indicates that the Legislature has met this burden.

Almost since the inception of the Commission in 1887, legislative grants of power to the Commission have been subject to challenge as unlawful delegation. In M'Whorter v. Pensacola and A.R. Co., 5 So. 129 (Fla. 1888), a railroad company challenged the statutes allowing the Railroad Commission to set rates on the basis that it was an unlawful delegation of legislative authority. The Court found that the power to fix rates was legislative in nature but that it was also delegable. Id. at 136. The Court went on to further state that determining just and reasonable rates is an ongoing and complex process which "can only be satisfactorily solved by a board which is in perpetual session, and whose time is

²The predecessor agency of the present Public Service Commission was established as the Florida Railroad Commission.

largely given to the consideration of the subject." Id. at 137. The Court declared that it would be virtually impossible for the Legislature to carry out this function itself and that ratemaking by the Legislature would "result in the most ill-advised and haphazard schedules, and be productive of the greatest inconvenience and injustice in some cases to the railroad companies, and in others to the people of the state." Id. The Court recognized in M'Whorter that utility regulation was an area where delegation of authority was both constitutionally permissible and practical.

In <u>State v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.</u>, 47 So. 969 (Fla. 1908), the Court provided a much expanded discussion of the doctrine of legislative delegation as it applied to the Commission. The Court recognized that, in the exercise of its authority, there are some things that the Legislature cannot effectively do by itself. The Court noted that in these instances ". . . the subject matter may be such that only a general scheme or policy can with advantage be laid down by the Legislature, and the working out in detail of the policy indicated may be left to the discretion of administrative or executive officials." (Citation omitted) <u>Id</u>. at 971.

The Court went on to explain in detail how this basic principle applied to regulation by the Railroad Commission and formulated its test for unlawful delegation as follows:

The Legislature may not delegate the power to enact a law, or to declare what the law shall be, or to exercise an unrestricted discretion in applying a law; but it may enact a law,

complete in itself, designed to accomplish a general public purpose, and may expressly authorize designated officials within definite valid limitations to provide rules regulations for the complete operation and enforcement of the law within its expressed This principle of law is general purpose. peculiarly applicable in the regulation of common carriers. The complex and ever changing conditions that attend or effect the performance of the useful public service rendered by common carriers make impracticable for the Legislature to prescribe all the necessary rules and regulations. of details the general legislative the definite limitations purpose, within in a complete law, cannot be expressed committed to administrative officers, sovereign power and duty to regulate would be impotent, to the great detriment of the public welfare. <u>Id</u>. at 976.

The Court ultimately found in <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u> that the Railroad Commission was authorized to adopt a rule imposing a \$1.00 per day charge for each rail car improperly detained by the railroad.

The basic tenets of these early cases are applicable to the question before this Court. The Legislature has enacted two statutes which clearly express the legislative intent that intrastate gas pipelines be comprehensively regulated. As rate regulation is a complex issue best left to the ongoing oversight of the Commission, so is the determination of need for a natural gas pipeline.

The mandatory provisions of 403.9422(1)(b)

Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the Legislature has in Section 403.9422(1)(b) established reasonable guidelines for the Commission's exercise of discretion. The statute unequivocally requires the Commission to take into account the need for "natural"

gas delivery reliability, safety and integrity; the need for abundant, clean-burning natural gas to assure the economic wellbeing of the public, and the appropriate commencement and terminus of the line." These terms are not inherently ambiguous nor subject to widely varying interpretations in the context in which they are There may be many factors which bear on the reliability, safety and integrity of a gas pipeline, the need for gas to assure economic well-being of the public or the determination of the appropriate commencement and terminus of the gas line. however, are factual matters upon which the law operates. the duty of the Commission to make those factual determinations and that is precisely what it did in the proceedings giving rise to this appeal. One need only examine the 22 substantive issues listed in the Commission's Prehearing Order to realize that this is true. Order No. PSC-93-0696-PHO-GP, R.465-503. It is no criticism of the statutory directive that elaborate definitions of its terms are not given nor that there is no weighting system attached to the various elements the Commission is to consider. <u>See</u>, <u>Graham v.</u> Estuary Properties, Inc., 399 So.2d 1374, 1378 (Fla. (Legislature did not place specific values on considerations for making Development of Regional Impact recommendations pursuant to 380.06(8), Florida Statutes, and there is no requirement that each be given equal weight). Indeed, this Court has recently upheld the Commission's discretion to interpret the statutory criteria to be applied in determining need under the Electrical Power Plant Siting Act, Section 403.519. Floridians for Responsible Utility Growth v.

<u>Beard</u>, 621 So.2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1993). (Commission did not err in its interpretation of statutory terms and its findings under Section 403.519 were clearly presented and supported by competent substantial evidence).

The discretionary provisions of 403.9422(1)(b)

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